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CHAPTER 1:
PISCATAWAY NECK TO CLIFTON’S NECK
6000 B.C. - A.D. 1759

The story of human occupation in the vicinity of Fort Hunt Park begins more than 8,000
years ago. Over the past 30 years, archaeologists have identified the remains of sites
dating to the prehistoric Archaic Period along the Potomac River shoreline between Fort
Hunt and Little Hunting Creek. Coinciding with the end of the Pleistocene epoch, this
period witnessed a dramatic change both in climate and natural resources, with warmer,
drier conditions spawning a greater diversity of food types. In turn, the local human
population adapted to the changing environment by developing new strategies of
subsistence that emphasized seasonal mobility. Organized in small bands, the Archaic
peoples of Virginia’s coastal plain appear to have congregated in base camps for part of
the year, then moved across the landscape at other times to exploit seasonal food sources.
The junction of Little Hunting Creek and the Potomac River would have proved an ideal
setting for such temporary prehistoric campsites, and archaeological evidence confirms
that native peoples came to this area regularly over many centuries.

Beginning about 1200 B.C., prehistoric Virginians began to develop a radically
different way of life. Experimenting with pottery and agriculture, they became
increasingly sedentary, establishing more permanent villages that were occupied year-
round. Defined by archaeologists as the Woodland Period, this era was marked by more
stable population growth and increasingly complex social organization. Woodland
villages in the Potomac River Valley were typically located on bluffs, terraces, or high
floodplains near rivers or major tributaries, while smaller seasonal satellite camps tended
to be established along smaller interior streams. Diagnostic pottery and projectile points
found near Fort Hunt Park indicate that, like their predecessors, Woodland peoples also
found this location ideal for exploiting the river’s resources.?

By about 1500 A.D. warfare had become endemic among the native peoples of
the Mid-Atlantic region. Archaeological evidence suggests that the cultural groups of the
inner coastal plain of the Potomac, including Maryland and Virginia, began to develop a
defensive alliance in the early sixteenth century under the authority of a paramount leader
with centralized power and authority. The resulting Conoy chiefdom of Maryland was a
hierarchical, stratified society that encompassed a variety of Algonquian-speaking
peoples, including the Nacothtanks, Pamunkeys, Nanjemoys, Potapacos, Yaocomacos,
Tauxenents, and Piscataways. Though no permanent village sites are believed to have
been located on or near Fort Hunt Park, this land lay between two important Conoy
villages. The eponymous “metropolis” of the Piscataways was situated almost directly
across from Fort Hunt Park at the confluence of the Potomac and Piscataway Creek. The
largest and most powerful of the Conoy tribes, the Piscataway’s “tayac,” or ruler,
governed all the groups of the chiefdom. On the Virginia side of the Potomac, the

! Richard J. Dent, Jr., Chesapeake Prehistory: Old Traditions, New Directions (New York, 1995);
Virginia Department of Historic Resources (VDHR) Archaeological Sites Inventory.

2 William M. Gardner, “Early and Middle Woodland in the Middle Atlantic: An Overview,” in Roger
W. Moeller (ed.), Practicing Environmental Archaeology: Methods and Interpretations, American
Indian Archaeological Institute, Occasional Paper No. 3: 53-86; VDHR Archaeological Sites
Inventory.



principal village of the Tauxenents was seven miles downriver from Fort Hunt Park at
Mason Neck. The Tauxenents, whose territory encompassed Fort Hunt, appear to have
been closely allied with the Piscataways during the Late Woodland. ®

In the early seventeenth century, the Conoys were confronted with a strange new
people. John Smith and a small exploratory party of Englishmen met the Tauxenents and
other nearby tribes on their expedition up the Potomac River in the summer of 1608; they
“did their best to content us,” Smith recorded, in typical laconic fashion. The new
English arrivals guessed that the Tauxenent village claimed “40 able men,” which
suggests a total population of about 170. It is unlikely that any of these people lived
permanently on or near Fort Hunt Park, though this area would have seen frequent use for
seasonal hunting and fishing. *

Despite Smith’s initially warm welcome, it was not long before the tenuous Anglo-
Indian relationship had worn thin. In March 1623, Captain Henry Spelman and 19 fellow
colonists were killed on a trading voyage up the Potomac, about 15 miles south of Fort
Hunt. The Virginians blamed the Nacotchtanks, a group of Maryland Conoys, and later
that year Governor Sir Francis Wyatt led a punitive expedition to “revenge the trecherie
of ye Pascoticons [Piscataways] and theire assocyates.” The English force of 90 men
reportedly “putt many to the swoorde,” burned numerous Piscataway and Nacotchtank
houses, and destroyed their corn supplies. The subsequent arrival of increasing numbers
of English traders and settlers in the upper Potomac Valley would mark the beginning of
the end for the traditional Conoy way of life. Now known as the Doegs, the Tauxenents
were still living at Mason Neck as late as the 1650s, and archaeological evidence shows
that they were actively trading with the new English settlers of Virginia and Maryland.
About this time, however, many Doegs began to move south to new lands along the
Rappahannock, relinquishing their former territory to tobacco-growing Englishmen. The
Piscataways would survive somewhat longer in their original territory along the Potomac,
but they, too, had left the area by about 1680.°

In the mid-seventeenth century, the lands lying north of the Rappahannock and
east of the Potomac comprised Virginia’s northernmost frontier. Captain Giles Brent of
Maryland was the first Englishman to settle in the “freshes” of the Potomac, in what is
now Stafford County. Brent first arrived in Virginia during the 1620s, and is mentioned
as a witness in a Jamestown court proceeding. He evidently left Virginia soon after; as a
Catholic, he likely would have refused to accept the Oath of Allegiance and Subservience
required of new settlers. Brent reappears in the Maryland records in November 1638,
arriving at St. Mary’s City aboard the Elizabeth, accompanied by his sisters, Mary and
Margaret, and his brother, Foulke. An old Catholic Somersetshire family, the Brents had

Stephen R. Potter, Commoners, Tribute, and Chiefs: The Development of Algonquian Culture in the
Potomac Valley (Charlottesville 1993): 20, 117, 180; Christian F. Feest, “Nanticoke and Neighboring
Tribes,” in Bruce G. Trigger (ed.), Handbook of North American Indians, vol. 15: Northeast
(Washington, D.C., 1978): 240-43.

Edward Wright Haile (ed.), Jamestown Narratives: Eyewitness Account of the Virginia Colony, The
First Decade, 1607-1617 (Champlain, Virginia, 1998): 260-61, 605.

> Potter, Commoners, Tribute, and Chiefs, 197, 204; Feest, “Nanticoke,” 243.



close personal connections to Cecilius Calvert, the second Lord Baltimore, who
personally provided large land grants for them in the new colony.®

Giles Brent immediately took up 60 acres in St. Mary’s City, was given a 1,000-
acre tract near Kent Fort, and another 1,000 acres in the location of his choice. Brent was
invited to sit in the Maryland Assembly in 1639, and became Lord of the Manor of Kent
Fort in 1642, a position that entailed sweeping political, judicial, and military power in
the region. The following year, Governor Leonard Calvert decided to return to England,
and appointed Brent Deputy Governor in his absence. About 1645, Brent married
Kittamaquund, the twelve-year-old daughter of the chief of the Piscataways. Later
dubbed the “Maryland Pocahontas,” Kittamaquund had been adopted by Brent’s sister,
Margaret, several years prior, and renamed Mary after her baptism by Jesuit Father
Andrew White. That same year, a Captain Richard Ingle arrived in the colony under the
authority of Parliament, then embroiled in civil war with King Charles I. Ingle seized
Brent, a staunch Royalist, and took him hostage to London. After a near brush with
death, Brent returned to Maryland in 1646 to put his affairs in order. Almost
immediately he became locked in a futile dispute with Lord Baltimore over his claims to
large portions of the colony allegedly inherited from his father-in-law, the chief of the
Piscataways. Increasingly disillusioned with the Maryland government and wary of the
growing Protestant influence in the colony, Brent moved across to Virginia with his
young bride in 1647. Here he established a plantation on the Widewater peninsula at the
confluence of the Potomac River and Aquia Creek, optimistically naming it Peace.’

Eager to capitalize on the potential Indian trade of the upper Potomac Valley, Brent
soon began to patent large tracts of land upriver from his settlement. During 1653-54,
Brent patented two tracts totaling 1,800 acres in the name of his infant son, Giles Brent
I1, thus becoming the first English owner of what would become Fort Hunt Park. Lying
along the Potomac between Hunting and Little Hunting creeks in what was then
Westmoreland County, these lands lay almost directly across from his wife’s former
vilgage. For the next century, this land would be known as “Piscataway Neck” (Figure
1).

Under Virginia’s “headright” system, Brent was entitled to 50 acres of land for each
person whose passage he paid to the colony. In order to maintain these claims, however,
he had to “seat and plant” the land within a year, which could be accomplished by
clearing an acre of land, building a structure, keeping animals on the site, or settling
servants or slaves on the property. No record remains of who may have lived on the
property during Brent’s lifetime, or how much land was brought into production, but it is
likely that he maintained a modest quarter on the tract, where tenant farmers or

®  Chester Horton Brent, The of Coll° Giles Brent, Cap' George Brent, and Robert Brent,**™, Immigrants

to Maryland and Virginia (Rutland, Vermont, 1946): 51.

" Brent, Descendants, 50-64.

Nell Marion Nugent (ed.). Cavaliers and Pioneers: Abstracts of Virginia Land Patents and Grants,
Vol. 1: 1623-1666 (Richmond, Virginia, 1992): 279, 315, 398. The lands of Fort Hunt Park have been
encompassed by five Virginia counties since the seventeenth century. Originally part of the
Chickacoan Indian District, it became part of Northumberland County in 1648. In 1653, the year Giles
Brent patented his first Fort Hunt parcel, the land was transferred to the authority of Westmoreland
County. It was then subsumed by Stafford County in 1664, Prince William in 1731, and finally by
Fairfax in 1742. Michael F. Doran, Atlas of County Boundary Changes in Virginia, 1734-1895
(Athens, Georgia, 1987).



Figure 1. John Savage’s survey of Giles Brent’s Patent, Piscataway Neck, 1738

(source: Beth Mitchell (ed.), Beginning at White Oak...Patents and

Northern Neck Grants of Fairfax County, Virginia, McGregor and
Werner, Fairfax, Virginia, 1977).



indentured servants gradually cleared the land and planted tobacco. Given the typical
pattern of seventeenth-century settlement in Virginia, it is likely that the first occupants
on the property would have situated themselves near the confluence of the Potomac and
Little Hunting Creek.

When Brent died in 1671, he willed his lands in England, Maryland, and Virginia to
his 19-year-old son, Giles. When he came of age, the younger Giles sold 500 acres in the
north part of the Piscataway Neck estate to his cousin, George Brent. Not long after, he
married his cousin, Mary Brent. Their union evidently was not a happy one, and in 1679
Mary was granted a judicial separation from her husband—only the second in Virginia’s
history—on grounds of cruelty. Aside from his hot temper, Giles is best remembered for
his ambivalent involvement in Bacon’s Rebellion of 1676. After an English servant in
the Northern Neck was murdered by Doeg Indians, Brent led a party of vindictive
Virginians into Maryland, where they surprised and slaughtered a number of Doeg
villagers and took one of the chief’s young sons hostage. As Anglo-Indian tensions
heightened along the Potomac, Brent raised a force of 1,000 men and joined rebel leader
Nathaniel Bacon in a march against the Indians. After Bacon burned Jamestown,
however, Brent led his troop south to defend Governor Sir William Berkeley. Brent’s
private army lost heart when they heard that Bacon had ejected Berkeley from
Jamestown, and the majority of his force deserted. Brent did not survive long after the
failed uprising. After separating from his wife, he moved to a Middlesex property he had
inherited from his aunt, Margaret Brent. He died there that same year.’

The will of Giles Brent Il does not survive, but it appears that his eldest son, Giles
Brent 11, inherited the Piscataway Neck tract. The Order Book of the Stafford County
Court records that on February 10, 1693, “Giles Brent son and heir of Col. Giles Brent
late deceased came into Court and did choose Capt. George Brent to be his guardian
which accordingly was granted.” Since these lands would later be associated with this
branch of the Brent family, it is possible that the wealthy and politically well-connected
George Brent of “Woodstock” may have assumed control over Giles’s holdings when he
died prematurely in 1694 at the age of 24.'°

George Brent died in 1699, leaving the Piscataway Neck estate to his son, George.
Now including 1,143 acres, this tract was described in Brent’s will as that “on which
Robert Williams is tenant.”  Little is known about Williams, who appears only
occasionally in the records of the Stafford County Court. He was definitely living on the
Neck land by 1690, when the deed for a neighboring parcel mentioned him as Brent’s
tenant. Williams was also one of the “subscribers” to a 1686 petition submitted on behalf
of the residents of what was then northern Stafford County. Prompted by fears of
unrestricted Indian movement in their region, this petition underscores the fact that this
part of Virginia remained an unsettled frontier:

Whereas the upper parts of Stafford being daily alarmed by the sight and
sign of Indians, but whether neighbors or strange Indians unknown to the

°  Brent, 84-88.
19 Ruth and Sam Sparacio, Order Book Abstracts of Stafford County, Virginia, 1692-93 (McLean,
Virginia, 1988): 68; Brent, Descendants, 89.



subscribers, therefore the subscribers thought good to make their
grievance known by this instrument. Viz. That the neighboring Indians
goes out and bring in strange Indians to their town which the subscribers
supposed are that the Indians that are daily seen or sign of them and these
with the neighboring Indians do endeavor to fright the inhabitants of these
parts so that they may leave their plantations . . . . We think it a grievance
that the Indians are permitted to come to every man’s house to trade, but
rather that they may be confined to a certain place for trade.'*

The younger George Brent would not enjoy possession of the Piscataway Neck lands
for long, as he died only a year after his father in 1700. In his will, he divided the Robert
Williams tenement tract between his brothers, Henry, Nicholas, and Robert. In 1701, the
20-year-old Robert went to Bermuda to represent the interests of his older brother
Nicholas in the settlement of a family estate. While there he married Susannah Seymour,
granddaughter of a former Bermudian Governor-General. Robert returned to Virginia
when Nicholas died in 1711. Since his other brother, Henry, was no longer living, Robert
was left with the entire 1,143-acre Piscataway Neck tract.'”

Since Robert Brent lived at the family estate of Woodstock until he died in 1722,
most likely he leased the family lands in Piscataway Neck to tenant tobacco planters.
Robert Williams may still have occupied the land, but no extant records detail exactly
who lived on the tract, or where. At his death, Robert Brent divided his substantial
Virginia holdings between his children, and his daughter Elizabeth, then only six years
old, received a partial share in the Neck lands. About 1730, Elizabeth married William
Clifton, a fellow Catholic who had emigrated from England some years earlier. Members
of the Clifton family had lived in Virginia and Maryland since the mid-seventeenth
century, and had long-standing business and family connections to the Virginia Brents.
William and Elizabeth Clifton appear to have been living on Elizabeth’s Piscataway Neck
land by 1739, when William purchased an additional 500 acres from his brother-in-law,
George Brent. The following year Clifton bought another 555-acre tract, known as
“Budgins,” from Henry Brent, another of Elizabeth’s brothers. Ultimately, William
Clifton would amass an estate of 1,806 acres through his wife’s inheritance and purchases
from her brothers. This land, including what would become Fort Hunt Park, would
henceforth be known as Clifton’s Neck.*®

During the 1740s and 1750s, the Cliftons lived on a 500-acre parcel in the eastern
portion of the Neck, and rented the remainder of the property to tenant planters. Fort
Hunt Park appears to have been occupied by two neighboring leaseholders after 1741. In
August of that year, Clifton leased 200 acres to John Sheridine along the Potomac River,
including what would come to be known as Sheridan Point, and rented an adjoining
parcel of the same size to Jane Hester and her sons (See Appendix A). Both leases were
for the lifetime of the leaseholder and their heirs. The annual rent was to be paid on

1 Brent, Descendants, 73-74; Ruth and Sam Sparacio, Deed and Will Abstracts of Stafford County,
Virginia, 1689-93 (McLean, Virginia, 1989): 53, 115.

2" Ruth and Sam Sparacio, Deed and Will Abstracts of Stafford County, Virginia, 1699-1709 (McLean,
Virginia, 1987): 14; David M. French, The Brent Family (Alexandria, 1977): 52.

3 Brent, Descendants, 90-95, 105; French, Brent Family, 58; Donald Jackson (ed.), The Diaries of
George Washington (Charlottesville, 1976), I: 238; Prince William County Deed Book D: 267-69,
Deed Book E: 103-04.



Christmas Day, assessed at 830 pounds of tobacco in Hester’s case, while Sheridine owed
730 pounds. Since both tracts included the same acreage, it is likely that Hester’s parcel
included somewhat more “improved,” or cleared land. The leases stipulated that neither
Sheridine nor Hester were to sell or sublet the tracts, though both were allowed the
privilege of cutting wood on other unleased portions of Clifton’s estate. A final condition
stipulated that both were to plant orchards of at least one hundred apple trees and keep
them “under good fence.”**

A map of Clifton’s Neck drafted in 1766 after George Washington had acquired
the property offers some clue as to how Fort Hunt Park might have looked under
Clifton’s ownership (Figure 2). The boundary between the Sheridine and Hester tenant
tracts appears to have been the eastern line of Washington’s Field No. 1, which ran north
from the Potomac through a ravine. The Sheridine leasehold likely lay to the east of this
line, encompassing approximately two-thirds of Fort Hunt Park, while the Hester tract
included the western third of the property. Washington did not include the Sheridine
parcel on his map, most likely because the family was still living there and farming the
land for themselves. The Hester parcel is depicted, however, and the map indicates that
two buildings—possibly the dwelling house and kitchen, or other outbuilding—were
situated west of the ravine, most likely within Fort Hunt’s current boundaries (Figure 3).
The apple orchard that Hester was required to plant under the terms of her lease appears
to have been located a short distance west of the buildings.

Though scant documentary evidence remains to illuminate how Fort Hunt Park
may have looked during the mid-eighteenth century, the few fragmentary records that
have survived open a window onto the life of a Fairfax County tenant farmer in the years
before the American Revolution. John Sheridine’s son, also named John, died in 1768,
leaving his aging father and his widow Barberry (or Barbara) still living on the 200-acre
tract they leased from William Clifton. In his will, Sheridine left his estate to his wife,
with the exception of his “wearing clothes,” saddle, and bridle, which he gave to his
father (See Appendix A). Officials of the Fairfax County Court probated his estate in the
following months: the picture of Sheridine that emerges is of a modestly successful
tenant planter, not wealthy enough to own his own land, but living a comfortable life by
the standards of eighteenth-century Virginia (See Appendix A).*

By the time Fairfax County was created from Prince William in 1742, nearly all
of its usable land had already been granted or patented, in tracts that generally ranged
between 200 and 500 acres. Since the Potomac River was still the region’s primary
artery of trade, transportation, and communication, the fertile land along its shores was a
valuable commodity. A man of modest means such as Sheridine would have found it
nearly impossible to purchase such desirable land in the mid-eighteenth century. In fact,
by the time of the Revolution, only 36 percent of Fairfax County householders owned
their own land; the majority leased their farms from wealthier landowners of the William
Clifton variety.™

¥ Prince William County Deed Book E: 419-21, 421-23.

5 Fairfax County Will Book C-1: 29, 40.

6 Nan Netherton et al., Fairfax County, Virginia: A History (Fairfax, 1978): 15, 26, 30-32; Allan
Kulikoff, Tobacco and Slaves: The Development of Southern Cultures in the Chesapeake, 1680-1800
(Chapel Hill, 1986): 135.



Figure 2. George Washington’s map of the River Farm, 1766 (source: Lawrence
Martin (ed.), The George Washington Atlas, United States George
Washington Bicentennial Commission, Washington, D.C., 1932).



Figure 3. Projected location of 1766 tenant farm (source: Martin (cd.), The George
Washington Atlas, Plate 3).



But what of economic standing? Where did John Sheridine fit in the Fairfax
County hierarchy of wealth and status? Here his inventory proves an invaluable
comparative tool. When he died, Sheridine owned three black slaves, two adult males
valued at £50 and £35, and a girl worth £35. Though Fairfax County slave ownership
was becoming increasingly widespread in the middle decades of the eighteenth century, it
was still relatively unusual for a tenant planter to own slaves. In 1749, only about 17
percent of white adult males in the county owned slaves, the majority of whom held 6 or
fewer. The proportion of slaveowners had increased somewhat by the 1780s, but a large
majority of adult white males still did not own a single slave by the end of the
Revolution.  The total value of Sheridine’s personal property, including his slaves,
livestock, tools, and household goods was £241 7s. 3d. To put this figure in perspective,
the annual rent of 730 pounds of tobacco he paid to Clifton was equivalent to about £4
13s., less than 2 percent of his net worth.'” An analysis of similar inventories for
neighboring Prince George’s County, Maryland, from the 1770s determined that the
mean estate value of slaveowning tenant planters was £121, only half of Sheridine’s total.
Even the value of Sheridine’s slaves was significantly higher than the average for Prince
George’s County slaveowners who owned their own land.*®

Though Sheridine may have ranked among the higher levels of Fairfax County’s
small planters, he still did not share the benefits of owning real estate enjoyed by his
landlord. Besides leasing portions of his estate, Clifton could augment his income in
other ways. Beginning in the mid-1740s, for example, Clifton operated a ferry service
from the Neck. A 1745 “Act for appointing several new ferries” passed by Virginia’s
House of Burgesses allowed a public crossing “on Potomac river, from the land of
William Clifton, in Fairfax County, over the said river, to the land in the tenure of
Thomas Wallis, in Prince George County, in Maryland, the price for a man, one shilling,
and for a horse, the same.” This ferry proved popular with Fairfax County travelers, and
was frequently used by George Washington when venturing out from his neighboring
Mount Vernon estate. Yet, despite this additional revenue, by 1747 Clifton was deeply in
debt. In that year he mortgaged his 1,806-acre estate on the Neck to Charles Carroll,
William Digges, and John Addison of Maryland, a transaction that created a vexing legal
entanglement that would not be resolved completely for 50 years.**

By 1755, Clifton had defaulted on his mortgage, and his Maryland creditors
brought suit against him in the Fairfax County Court. Acting in chancery, the court
ordered the Neck lands to be sold to pay Clifton’s debts of more than £1,000, and later
that year the property was purchased by George Johnston. Clifton launched a countersuit
to regain the land, and in April 1759 the General Court in Williamsburg nullified the sale.
To settle the issue, the Williamsburg authorities appointed a panel of local
commissioners, including George William Fairfax, John West, Jr., Charles Green, and
Thomas Colvill to arrange the sale of the property within four months, and to work out an

7" In 1750, the Fairfax County Court set the official value of tobacco at 12s. 6d. per hundredweight.

Netherton et al., Fairfax County, 59.

8 Kulikoff, Tobacco and Slaves, 140.

19 William Waller Hening, The Statutes at Large; Being a Collection of all the Laws of Virginia from the
First Session of the Legislature in the Year 1619 (Richmond, 1819), v. 5: 364, v. 6: 19; Fairfax County
Deed Book B-1: 290.
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equitable settlement with Clifton’s creditors. The Fairfax commissioners still had not
resolved the situation by October 1759, and when Thomas Colvill stepped down as
commissioner, he was replaced by Clifton’s young neighbor, George Washington. And so
the future President of the United States would begin his lifelong association with the
lands of the Fort Hunt Park.?

2 Fairfax County Deed Book D-1: 165-69,171-75, 178-84; W.W. Abbott (ed.), The Papers of George
Washington: Colonial Series (Charlottesville, 1983-98), 9:409-10n.
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CHAPTER 2:
GEORGE WASHINGTON’S RIVER FARM
1760 - 1799

I shall begrudge no reasonable expense that will contribute to the

improvement and neatness of my farms, for nothing pleases me better than

to see them in good order, and everything trim, handsome, and thriving

about them; nor nothing hurts me more than to find them otherwise.
George Washington to William Pearce,
6 October 1793"

The year was 1760, and George Washington had finally arrived home. A young man of
28, he was now a husband and father, having just married Martha Dandridge Custis the
year before and assumed responsibility for her children. He was also fresh from the
battlefield, having helped to wrest the continent from the hands of the French, and change
the course of North American history. But, after a youth spent winning an empire on the
frontier, Washington now yearned for a more settled life. And so, he returned to his
ancestral lands along the Potomac River to take up the role of gentleman farmer. His
goal: to bring prosperity and order to the farm at Mount Vernon where he had spent a part
of his youth, and where he would end his days as the Father of the new American
Republic.

This Fairfax County neighborhood of river farms had been home to the
Washington family for nearly a century when George returned to Mount Vernon. In
1674 George’s great-grandfather, Lieutenant Colonel John Washington, along with
Colonel Nicholas Spencer, patented 5,000 acres in what was then Stafford County, “in
near land of Capt. Giles Brent . . . .”> When George’s father, Augustine, inherited the
tract, it hardly possessed the carefully crafted aura of Georgian respectability for which
Mount Vernon is now universally known. Rather, this was a large, though largely
undeveloped, piece of ground, with a modest planter’s house and little else. The family
was living at Wakefield on Pope’s Creek in Westmoreland County when George was
born in 1732, though they soon moved to the Mount Vernon land—then known as
Epsewasson—where they stayed until George was six. When their home was destroyed
by fire, the family once again was forced to relocate, this time to Ferry Farm on the
Rappahannock River in Stafford County, near the new town of Fredericksburg. George
would return to Mount Vernon frequently during his youth, to visit his brother Lawrence,
who had inherited the land, and pay his respects to the nearby Fairfax family, whose
daughter Sally was his first love. But until Lawrence died prematurely in 1752, George
likely did not dream that one day he would become master of this ground.?

Marriage changed George Washington, and Washington soon began to change
Mount Vernon. In a society in which such unions were conceived as much to transfer
wealth and privilege among the colonial gentry as for romantic love, George could not

1
2

Donald Jackson (ed.), The Diaries of George Washington (Charlottesville, 1976), I: xxvi.
Nell Marion Nugent (ed.), Cavaliers and Pioneers: Abstracts of Virginia Land Patents and Grants,
(Richmond, 1977), 11 178.

®  James Thomas Flexner, Washington: The Indispensable Man (Boston, 1974), 43.

12



have made a better match. George would come to love Martha deeply, but much of the
initial attraction was clearly fiscal. Widow of the wealthy Daniel Parke Custis, Martha
transformed George from a “run-of-the-mill planter to a man of substance.” Though
George had by no means endured an impoverished young life, he was never allowed to
forget that his modest family circumstances demanded that he make his own way in life.
So, when he suddenly came into a third of the vast Custis estate, and was likewise
responsible for the other two-thirds as guardian of Martha’s children, it is hardly
surprising that George began to spend, and not always wisely. Looking back on his
younger self, an older and more cautious Washington admitted that his strivings for a
gentrified respectability “swallowed before I knew where | was, all the money | got by
my marriage. Nay more, brought me into debt.”

As a new member of Virginia’s landed elite, George assumed that the key to his
success as a gentleman farmer lay in increasing his farm’s productivity. This meant
acquiring more land. Gazing out across Little Hunting Creek to the scattered tenant
farms on his neighbor William Clifton’s property, George surely imagined one day
adding these acres to his growing estate. By 1760, the time must have seemed right:
Clifton appeared eager to sell and be done with the legal wrangling over the property that
had plagued him for years; and now Washington had the money to make a respectable
offer. “Mr. Clifton came here and we conditioned for his land,” Washington recorded in
his diary on Thursday, February 14, 1760. “I am to have all his land in the Neck (500
Acres about his house excepted) and the Land commonly called Brents for £1,600
Currency.”

Given his complicated legal position, Clifton should not have been so quick to
make this offer; and considering his own involvement as a commissioner charged with
resolving the Clifton case, it is surprising that Washington should have shown such
optimism. Nonetheless, these informal discussions over the sale of the Neck continued
relatively amicably through February. Though he seemed to Washington a changeable
personality, occasionally putting on *“airs of indifference” and wavering on price, Clifton
evidently was committed to the transaction, noting only that he must first get his wife to
acknowledge her right of dower, a supposedly minor detail. Over the following days,
however, the pages of Washington’s diary reveal his bewilderment and exasperation as
the deal began to unravel.

Sunday, March 2, 1760: “Mr. Clifton came here to day,” Washington noted, “&
under pretence of his Wife not consenting to acknowledge her right of Dower wanted to
disengage himself of the Bargain he had made with me for his Land on the 26" past and
by his Shuffling behaviour on the occasion convinced me of his being the trifling body
represented . . . .”” Washington was then outraged to learn that Clifton also had agreed to
sell the land to Thomson Mason, younger brother of George Mason of Gunston Hall.
Washington could barely restrain himself, and his reaction seems to betoken more a

Flexner, Washington, 43.
Flexner, Washington, 44.
Jackson (ed.), Diaries, I: 237.
Jackson (ed.), Diaries, I: 250.
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bruised sense of dignity than mere disappointment over potentially losing a valuable
piece of real estate. This blatant betrayal, Washington wrote, “convinced me that he was
nothing less than a thorough pac’d Rascall—disregardful of any Engagements of Words
or Oaths not bound by Penalties.”® Washington’s characteristic sense of honor and
propriety was deeply wounded by Clifton’s actions, but this did not prevent him from
haggling. Offering £50 more than Mason, Washington wooed Clifton back to their
original agreement. “l did not think Myself restrained by any Rules of Honour,
Conscience or & ca. from making him this offer,” he rationalized, “as his Lands were
first engaged to me by the most Solemn assurances that any Man could give.”

Pinning down the fickle Clifton had been no easy task, but sorting out the legal
aspect of the sale would prove even more difficult. Meeting on March 28, 1760, the
commissioners—Washington included—finally agreed upon the final disposition of the
property. Rather than allowing Washington to buy Clifton’s Neck in a private sale, they
determined that the land would be offered at public auction in Alexandria on May 20™.
On the appointed date, Washington’s bid of £1,210 sterling was accepted, and the deed
duly registered with the clerk of the Fairfax County Court.® Not unexpectedly, Thomson
Mason, Washington’s thwarted rival, threatened to appeal the sale decree, and a handful
of Clifton’s creditors refused to acknowledge the transfer. In fact, more than 30 years
would pass before Charles Carroll’s son and Ignatius Digges’s widow, Mary Carroll
Digges, finally gave Washington clear title to the land. But, for all intents and purposes,
Washington now legally owned the 1,806 acres of Clifton’s Neck.™

Ownership aside, Washington’s enjoyment of the property was hampered from
the start. To begin with, the deed of sale allowed Clifton to reside on the land for a year
while he put his affairs in order. Washington also was limited by the fact that a number
of Clifton’s tenants remained on the property and, though they now paid their annual rent
to Washington, the terms of their original leases were unaffected by the sale. It appears
that former Clifton tenants Richard Rollins and William Crump left the Neck shortly after
Washington bought the land, but several others, including John Carney, Samuel Johnston,
Gilbert Simpson, and John Sheridine, remained on their leaseholds as late as the 1770s.
In fact, Washington could not incorporate much of what now comprises Fort Hunt Park
into his Clifton’s Neck plantation until 1773, when he bought out the remainder of
Sheridine’s lease from his widow, Barberry, who was still living on the property with her
new husband, Samuel Halley.*

The earliest known map that depicts Clifton’s Neck as part of Mount Vernon was
drafted by Washington himself in 1766 (see Chapter 1, Figure 2). Less than 1,000 of the
property’s 1,806 acres were included in this survey; it appears that only those fields that
Washington was actively farming, not those still occupied by leaseholders, were shown.

& Jackson (ed.), Diaries, |: 252.

°  Jackson (ed.), Diaries, I: 255.

1 Fairfax County Court, Deed Book D-1: 759-68.

1 W.W. Abbott (ed.), The Papers of George Washington: Colonial Series (Charlottesville, 1983-98), 9:
409-10n. Within three years Washington had purchased an additional 238 acres of Neck land from
Charles Brent, bringing the total acreage to 2,044. Fairfax County Deed Book D: 839.

2 Jackson (ed.), Diaries, I1: 43; 111: 115, 155; 248-49; V: 102.
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Five years after taking over the Neck, Washington had divided the tract into six discrete
components. Fields 1, 2, and 3 encompassed the bulk of the acreage, their boundaries
likely coinciding with those of the Clifton era tenant farms. A number of structures, and
what appear to be orchards or garden plots, are situated within each field, and likely
represent former tenant dwellings. A 182-acre parcel to the north of the farm fields is
labeled “woods and pasture,” and would have provided pasturage for livestock, as well as
the large quantity of wood necessary for fuel and fencing. At the head of Carney’s Cut, a
tributary of Little Hunting Creek that runs southeast from the heart of the property, is a
small, well-defined area with at least three buildings and adjacent gardens. This was the
location of the “quarter” that housed the slaves who worked the surrounding fields. **

The current boundaries of Fort Hunt Park do not fit neatly into Washington’s
1766 depiction of his new property. The modern Sheridan Point (named for John
Sheridine, the Clifton/Washington tenant) marks the extreme southeast boundary of the
survey, so only the western portion of the National Park Service property is depicted in
“Field No. 1” of the 1766 map. The remainder, which included the Sheridine leasehold,
lies directly to the east of Field No. 1, and is not included in the map. Since Washington
did not have access to this ground—and would not for another several years—he likely
did not see the utility in including this acreage in the survey. The two unidentified
structures depicted in the southeast quadrant of Field No. 1 appear to be located within
the current boundaries of Fort Hunt Park (see Chapter 1, Figure 3). These buildings may
represent the tenant farm of Jane Hester, who leased 200 acres adjacent to John Sheridine
from Clifton in the years before Washington purchased the property. By 1766, Hester or
the subsequent tenant had likely vacated the leasehold, however, and the fields had come
into production as a part of Washington’s farm on the Neck.**

In the two centuries since his death, historians and the general public alike have
tended to view Washington through the prism of his public persona as soldier, statesman,
and Founding Father. It is clear, however, that Washington saw himself in a much
different light: as a farmer, frequently called away from his fields to serve the public
interest. The pages of his diaries are filled with notations on the minutiae of plowing,
crops, soils, and the weather. Washington loved the land, and clearly it occupied nearly
all his mental and physical energy when he was at home.*

The very year that Washington acquired Clifton’s Neck, 1760, also marked what
is generally recognized as the beginning of an “agricultural revolution” in England.
Pioneered by agriculturalist Jethro Tull, this blossoming interest in farming methods and
theory marked a profound break with the medieval tradition of three-year crop rotation.
Tull and others developed a far more sophisticated system of land management that
included, among other advances, the introduction of fertilizers, forage crops, roots, and
non-native grasses to stave off soil exhaustion. Washington’s early diaries reveal that
during his first years at Mount Vernon he was still heavily wedded to tobacco as his
primary cash crop. But, like his fellow planters throughout Tidewater Virginia in the

3 Washington did not regularly use the name “River Farm” to identify this property until fairly late in his

tenure. From the 1760s through the 1780s, he generally referred to it in his diaries and correspondence
as “the Neck,” as in “Clifton’s Neck.” The name “River Farm” appears to have gained currency only
by the early 1790s. For example: “William Gardener—my new Overseer for the Neck, arrived (by
Water) with his family today (December 10, 1789).” Jackson (ed.), Diaries, V: 432-33.

" Prince William County Court Records, Deed Book E: 419 (14 August 1741).

5 Jackson (ed.), Diaries, I: xxvi.
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second half of the eighteenth century, Washington increasingly found the old tobacco
economy untenable. Tobacco was at root a wasteful crop, devouring land almost as
quickly as it could be cleared; and it did not take too many seasons before Washington
realized that Mount Vernon’s soils were simply exhausted from the annual round of
tobacco planting and harvesting. He could no longer afford to bring substantial new
tracts of land, such as Clifton’s Neck, into production to maintain his output without
destroying valuable woodland necessary for firewood, and his farms could not produce
enough manure to fertilize already depleted soils.*®

By the 1760s Washington had accepted the inevitable and begun to diversify his
farms, phasing out tobacco production in favor of various other crops. Though he never
abandoned tobacco entirely, by the Revolutionary era Mount Vernon had become the
model of a diversified plantation economy. Before his death, Washington had raised—or
at least experimented with—over 60 different crops at Mount Vernon, including: barley,
buckwheat, burnet, clover, chicory, corn, carrots, cabbage, field peas, flax, guinea grass,
hemp, horsebean, Jerusalem artichoke, millet, oats, orchard grass, potatoes, pumpkins,
rye, sainfoin, Siberian melilot, spelt, tick trefoil, turnips, timothy, and wheat.
Washington experimented enthusiastically with various types of fertilizers, including
animal dung, marl, green crops plowed under, and even mud from the Potomac River.
He shared Jefferson’s interest in the new agricultural machinery, and an inventory of
equipment at the River Farm taken after his death noted the presence of a threshing
machine, a recent innovation. In addition to a wide range of crops, the River Farm was
also home to some of Washington’s livestock, including sheep, cattle, swine, and poultry.
Throughout his years at Mount Vernon, Washington was fascinated with the new
scientific study of agriculture and animal husbandry; his library was filled with books on
the subject, and he corresponded enthusiastically with English and American experts,
including fellow Virginian Thomas Jefferson, on all matters relating to farm life."’

It would be disingenuous, however, to continue with a discussion of the plantation
economy of Mount Vernon, and the daily workings of the River Farm, without first
addressing the means by which Washington’s agricultural schemes were realized.
Slavery was well entrenched in Virginia long before Washington was born. Though he
arguably became a “lukewarm abolitionist” in his later years, throughout his adult life
Washington acted the traditional part of the large Virginia slaveowner. As with Thomas
Jefferson, historians have been quick to seize on the irony of Washington’s reputation as
a pillar of republican virtue when he also held hundreds of fellow humans in bondage. In
the final analysis, it is clear that Washington was a product of time, place, and social
class: a “scientific farmer” of the late eighteenth century who managed his slaves as
closely as his crops, and a ‘benevolent master” who provided food, shelter, and medical
care to his charges, yet always with an eye towards maintaining productivity.*®

By the time he moved permanently to Mount Vernon, Washington was already
well accustomed to owning slaves. He had inherited 10 slaves from his father as a boy,
then 18 more when his elder brother Lawrence died in 1752. But only after marrying

16
17

Jackson (ed.), Diaries, I: XXvi-Xxx.

Fritz Hirschfeld, George Washington and Slavery: A Documentary Portrayal (Columbia, Missouri,
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Martha Custis did he truly join the ranks of Virginia’s largest slaveowners. Marriage
made Washington the caretaker of dozens of “dower slaves” who, though still owned by
his wife, now came under his direct authority. In 1760, the year Washington bought
Clifton’s Neck, he paid tax on 49 slaves at Mount Vernon. As Washington’s holdings
expanded, eventually into five “farms” (Mansion House, Dogue Run, Muddy Hole,
Union, and River Farm), his demand for slave labor increased accordingly. Each farm
operated as an independent unit under the direction of either a resident white overseer or
a black “driver.” Washington himself closely monitored every aspect of work and output
on each farm while he was at Mount Vernon, and when absent relied on a series of estate
managers to ensure that plantation affairs ran smoothly.*®

As he brought the fields on the Neck into production during the 1760s and 1770s,
Washington moved increasing numbers of laborers to the quarter at the River Farm.
There, they answered to James Cleveland, who served as overseer between 1765 and
1775. Fairfax County’s lists of titheables, or taxable slaves over the age of 16, indicates
that the number of laboring slaves living and working on the River Farm rose steadily
from 6 in 1761 to 33 in 1774 (see Appendix B). After the Mansion House Farm, the
River Farm was the largest of Mount Vernon’s agricultural units, at its height in the
1790s housing upwards of 57 black men, women, and children.?® A 1793 map of Mount
Vernon shows that the main quarter at the River Farm was still located at the head of
Carney’s Cut, in the central portion of the tract, though it now was considerably larger
than it had been in 1766 (Figure 4). A row of four structures was depicted along the edge
of a large orchard and grass lot. A short distance to the south, on the opposite side of the
cut, was a larger building, likely the overseer’s house, alongside the farm’s main barn and
gardens.

Washington expected a great deal of his slaves and their overseers. At heart he
was a businessman, and expected Mount Vernon to function in a rational and efficient
manner. “To request that my people may be at their work as soon as it is light—work
‘till it is dark—and be diligent while they are at it can hardly be necessary,” Washington
wrote to one of his overseers in 1789, “because the propriety of it must strike every
manager who attends to my interest, or regards his own character . . . the presumption
being, that, every labourer (male or female) does as much in 24 hours as their strength,
without endangering their health, or constitution, will allow of.”?

Though Washington’s letters and diaries record the manifold details of
agricultural operations at the River Farm, and the problems inherent in coaxing labor
from sometimes recalcitrant slaves, he offered little descriptive detail about “his
people”as human beings. As a result, the best sources for understanding the living
conditions of slaves at the River Farm are provided by outsiders. Throughout
Washington’s life, Mount Vernon was host to a steady stream of visitors, including
foreigners who were intrigued by Washington’s slaves and their situation. One such
guest, the Polish nobleman Julian Ursyn Niemcewicz, recorded his impressions of a visit
to the quarter.

9 Hirschfeld, Washington and Slavery, 11-21.

2 John C. Fitzpatrick, The Writings of George Washington, From the Original Manuscript Sources,
1745-1799 (Washington, D.C., 1931-44); 37: 262-63.

2L Abbott (ed.), Papers: Presidential Series, 1: 223.
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Figure 4. Detail, George Washington’s map of his Mount Vernon Farms, 1793
(source: Lawrence Martin (ed.), The George Washington Atlas, United
States George Washington Bicentennial Commission, Washington, D C.,

1932).
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Figure 5. Fort Hunt Park boundaries projected onto George Washington’s 1793 map
of the Mount Vernon Farms (source: Library of Congress, G 3882.M7
1793.W34).
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“We entered one of the huts of the Blacks,” he described,

for one can not call them by the name of houses. They are more miserable
than the most miserable of the cottages of our peasants. The husband and
wife sleep on a mean pallet, the children on the ground; a very bad
fireplace, some utensils for cooking, but in the middle of this poverty
some cups and a teapot . . . . A very small garden planted with vegetables
was close by, with 5 or 6 hens, each one leading ten to fifteen chickens. It
is the only comfort that is permitted them; for they may not keep either
ducks, geese, or pigs. They sell the poultry in Alexandria and procure for
themselves a few amenities. They allot them each one pack [peck], one
gallon of maize per week; this makes one quart a day, and half as much for
the children, with 20 herrings each per month. At harvest time those who
work in the fields have salt meat; in addition, a jacket and a pair of
homespun breeches per year.??

Though little in the way of descriptive detail was ever recorded concerning the
slaves who called the River Farm home, Washington did take two detailed inventories of
is Mount Vernon slaves in 1786 and 1799 (see Appendices C and D). From these names
and numbers can be teased some significant details that Washington simply took for
granted and evidently felt no need to discuss. In the 1786 inventory, Washington divided
his 52 River Farm slaves by sex and age, and differentiated between his own and
Martha’s “dower” slaves. At the head of the list was Davy, “overseer,” and Molly, his
wife. Davy was a mulatto slave who had previously served as overseer of the Muddy
Hole Farm before Washington brought him to the River Farm in 1785 to replace the
recently deceased superintendent, John Alton. At any given time it was not unusual for
one of the Mount Vernon farms to be run by a trusted black overseer. Though still in
bondage, the “driver” and his family were allowed special privileges in accordance with
his elevated status. Living in separate quarters, they received extra rations and
provisions, and were sometimes allowed to leave Mount Vernon to attend events such as
horse races in Alexandria.??

River Farm in 1786 was home to 9 adult “laboring men,” and 17 “laboring
women.” Though he did not purchase any new slaves after 1772, the black population at
Mount Vernon had continued to grow considerably as the result of natural increase.
Thus, the 23 children who also lived at the River Farm can be seen in pragmatic terms as
the byproduct of Washington’s encouragement of his female slaves to procreate. In one
sense, Washington was all too glad to rely on “homegrown” labor, particularly in the
years following the Revolution when, under increasing public scrutiny, he resolved to
stop trading in slaves. But this policy ultimately backfired. Having also made a
commitment to keep slave families together as best he could, Washington found himself
unable to sell off excess laborers, as his less scrupulous fellow planters did, to relieve the
population pressure on his estate. By the 1790s, Mount Vernon had become

2 Hirschfeld, Washington and Slavery, 54.

2 Hirschfeld, Washington and Slavery, 39-40.
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overpopulated with slaves, about half of whom—children, the infirm, and elderly—were
“unproductive,” yet still required food, shelter, clothing, and medical care.?*

Washington’s 1799 inventory of River Farm, taken only weeks before his death,
paints a similar picture of a large, self-contained slave community of 57 individuals,
many of whom had several children living with them. Certain minor notations in this
inventory shed unintended light on what Washington expected of his slaves. For
example, at 80 years old, the slave Robin was considered “nearly past labor” [emphasis
added]. At the opposite end of the age spectrum, 14-year-old Cecelia was recorded as
having “no husband,” suggesting that by her age she conceivably might have already
found a match and begun to bear children. These few details reinforce a picture of slave
life at the River Farm in which difficult labor was expected of even the most aged of
slaves, and the reproductive capacity of young women—or girls—was valued as their
principal asset.

Washington was considered by his contemporaries to be a humane master, strict
and demanding, but never brutal. Though later in life he clearly came to see the
contradictions inherent in a republic of slaveholders, he also held the typical eighteenth-
century Southern view of blacks as essentially shiftless and inferior to whites. Perhaps
the most succinct comment on slavery at Washington’s Mount Vernon was offered by his
private secretary, Tobias Lear “The negroes are not treated as blacks in general are in
this Country,” remarked the educated, liberal New Englander, “they are clothed and fed
as well as any labouring people whatever and they are not subject to the lash of a
domineering Overseer—but they are still slaves. . .”%

Though he rarely delved into the personal lives of his slaves, Washington spared
no ink in describing the daily operations at the River Farm in those years, admittedly few
and far between in the later 1770s and 1780s, when he actually lived at home. The
following selected entries from his journal between January and December 1788 describe
what amounts to a “year in the life” of the property, a detailed picture of the annual round
of planting, harvesting, and countless other tasks that occupied Washington’s mind, and
his slaves’ muscle, through each season.?

4 January
In the Neck the Men were getting Posts & rails for fencing; & the Women
were threshing Oats.

22 January

at the Neck: the Men were getting Posts & rails—some of the women
cutting down Corn Stalks & gathering them into heaps—8 others of them
at the Mansion House.

14 February

In the Neck 7 Plows were at Work in the field by the Barn—frost some
interruption to the Plows. The Women grubbing along the Branch below
the Spring. Men at work as usual.

2 Hirschfeld, Washington and Slavery, 13-18.
% Hirschfeld, Washington and Slavery, 52.
% Jackson, Diaries, 5: 261-438.
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19 February

The Men were getting & preparing for fencing. The Women, some were
grubbing and others throwing down old fences in order to erect them a
New.

15 March

In the Neck, the Women were spreading Dung on the ground intended for
Oats and Barley—being the West part of No. 2. At this place also |
caused to be sown a bed of Reynold’s Turnip rooted Cabbages for the
purpose of raising plants to put in my Corn Rows.

26 March

Finished sowing so much of the West cut of No. 2 in the Neck as received
the Oats raised from the Seed of General Spotswood; and Clover &
Timothy thereon; & harrowed & cross harrowed them in, but could not
roll them in on account of the damps on the Surface. Began to Sow Oats
in the Easternmost cut of this field which was finished plowing this
Morning and to plow in the middle cut for Barley.

7 April

In the Neck, the Posting, Railing & ditching was completed this Morning
up to the Gate; and the other part, to the Gut, set about. The Plows would,
about Noon, finish breaking up the Middle Cut of No. 2 and a particular
part of which being very cloddy and stiff, | ordered it to be crossed. . . .
The Women would about have done picking up & heaping the Corn Stalks
in No. 3 to day (having finished those in No. 7) and would repair the fence
round No. 6 and Orchard Inclosure.

28 April
In the Neck, as at Dogue Run, the planting of Corn had been suspended on
account of the rains, and the extreme wetness of the Earth . . . . Began the

brick work of the Dairy at this place to day. And ordered the holes for the
Reception of Corn to be made to morrow.

2 May

In the Neck, all hands except the Plowers & Carters were planting Corn—
one plow laying off in the Barn Inclosure for Sundries—one harrow for
Buck Wheat—3 plows listing for Carrots and Cabbages . . . .

14 May

In the ground which had been ridged here for Pease & ca. 5 Men (besides
the Overseer, who only worked occasionally) 11 Women, and one boy
made 72 rows of hills, which rows could average 300 hills each—in the
whole between 21 ad 22 thousand hills in that day.

2T Washington’s 1793 map of Mount Vernon indicates that the current Fort Hunt Park encompassed the

majority of the River Farm’s Field No. 3 and the southern portion of Field No. 2.
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14 June

At the River Plantation, all hands were planting Potatoes & weeding Corn.
The Plows were throwing a furrow (on each side) to the Corn, covering
Potatoes, & ca. The Pumpkins were also weeded and the Planting of
Potatoes completed at this place.

18 June

Examined the grain in the Neck which appears as follows—viz.—the
Wheat in field No. 7 which | expected would have been very fine scarcely
merits the epithet—Muiddling the whole being too thin being injured by the
frosts of Winter & the wet of this Spring. Of the red wheat which was
sown in this field scarcely any is to be seen and of the white (both
imported from England) the ground was but thinly covered. The Corn
ground Wheat in No. 3 was too thin every where—in places scarcely any.

22 July

In the Neck—the Oats were cut down about Noon, & the last of the Wheat
about five Oclock, when the Cradlers assisted in binding and securing the
grain. One harrow in the Corn and five Plows finished Weeding the
Pumpkins after dinner.

25 July

[The previous day a fierce hurricane hit the Chesapeake, inflicting serious
damage between Norfolk and Baltimore.]

In the Neck—all the River Fence being carried away, All hands (plow
people as well as the rest) were collecting rails to repair it, to keep the
stock out of the fields of grain except One or two who were righting some
shocks of grain and Setting up Flax which had been pulled and blown all
about.

11 August

Overlooked the Stock here, and separated 13 (besides 2 Work Steers
which will follow as soon as they can be spared) to go to the feeding
Pasture at French’s viz. 5 steers & 9 cows. Separated the Lambs 45 in
number from the Ewes, & put them in field No. 2. Drew 12 old weathers
and 38 old ewes for killing and Marked and put them in Field No. 7. The
residue—viz. 29 weathers & 79 ewes were turned in the Common Pasture.

23 August

The rest of the hands were about finishing weeding the Pease & pulling
the large weeds from among the Pompions—after which would gather up
the apples under the trees.

23



12 September

In the Neck. The Ploughs and harrows from the different Plantations were
at Work, preparing for, and putting in wheat—one harrow in the Corn and
the Waggon & Carts drawing in Wheat. The other hands were clearing
Wheat (which had been tread out yesterday) and picking up apples.

29 September

In the Neck—All the tops were cut and blades pulled from the Corn on
Saturday lasst, but not got in being too green. All hands, except 5 people
at the Plows, getting them in to day.

9 October
In the Neck—the People having pulled up all the Pease that were planted
in Hills had begun to dig the Irish Potatoes between the Corn rows in order
to Sow Rye. The Carts & Waggons were getting in the Pease and one man
was cutting down with a scythe those Pease which had been sown in
Broadcast.

29 October
In the Neck—Ordered the Pumpkins at this and all the other plantations to
be taken up & secured as a severe frost might be expected.

1 November
In the Neck—all the Plows were putting in Rye, and all the Hoes
employed in taking up Potatoes & hoeing in Rye between the Corn.

18 November
In the Neck the Plows were at Work breaking up field No. 8. The other
hands were stripping the Seed off the flax in order to Spread.

4 December

In the Neck the Plows were stopped by the frost which had frozen the
ground quite hard. The greater part of the hands had been working on the
public roads the two preceeding days. To day they were removing
Potatoes into the Barn from the Corn House.

10 December
William Gardener—my new Overseer for the Neck, arrived (by Water)
with his family today.

And so the cycle of seasons, and the rhythm of work, began anew.
In 1788, Washington was still a man in his prime, rising at dawn and spending
hours touring his estate, not content merely to admire his land from horseback, but

plunging into every detail of management, from deciding how to plow to when to pick
the pumpkins. But as the years passed, and he began to lose his renowned vigor,
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Washington longed to abdicate as ruler of Mount Vernon, a huge plantation that literally
comprised a small, self-sufficient village. Washington envisioned leasing the plantation’s
four outlying farms, while retaining the mansion house and grounds for his own use. The
following advertisement, describing the River Farm and his other Mount Vernon
properties, appeared in a Philadelphia newspaper in early 1796:

The largest of these, called River Farm, contains 1207 acres of ploughable
land; 879 of which, are in seven fields, nearly of a size, and under good
fences; 212 acres (in one enclosure) are, generally in a common grass
pasture; and 116 acres more, are in five grass lots, and an orchard (of the
best grafted fruit) all of them contiguous to the dwelling house and barn.
On the premises, are a comfortable dwelling house (in which the
Overlooker resides) having three rooms below, and one or two above; an
old barn (now in use) and a brick one building 60 by 30 feet; besides ends
and wings, sufficient for stabling 20 working horses, and as many oxen;
and an excellent brick dairy, with a fine spring in the middle of it. Thirty
black labourers (men and women) being the usual number which have
been employed on this farm, are, with their children, warmly lodged
chiefly in houses of their own building. The soil is a loam, more inclined
to clay than sand, and with slight dressings yields grain well, particularly
wheat. Encompassed on two sides by the river Potomack, and on a third
by a navigable creek, the inlet therefrom, in a variety of places, afford an
inexhaustible fund of rich mud for manure and compost. The water
abounds in a variety of fish and wild fowl; and one or more shad and
herring fisheries might be established thereon.?

Despite his flair for salesmanship, Washington was unable to find a tenant willing
to take on the management of the River Farm, or any of his other properties. When his
long-time personal secretary, Tobias Lear, married Martha’s niece Frances in 1795,
Washington gave them a rent-free lease of 360 acres in the extreme eastern part of the
River Farm as a wedding gift. This property, known variously as “Wellington” and
“Walnut Tree Farm,” included William Clifton’s former home tract. A Harvard graduate,
Lear had arrived at Mount Vernon from his native New Hampshire in 1785 on the
recommendation of a mutual acquaintance. A one-year appointment turned into a
fourteen-year association, and Lear was at Washington’s side when the General died.
Lear and his stepsons, George Fayette and Lawrence Augustine Washington, lived
intermittently at Wellington until he was sent abroad on diplomatic service during the
Jefferson presidency.”

By the summer of 1799, Washington sensed that his death was imminent, and he
set about drafting his will. “Upon the decease of my wife,” he ordered, “it is my Will &
desire that all the Slaves which | hold in my own right, shall receive their freedom.”
Though Martha retained control over the distribution of her *“dower slaves,”
Washington’s death ultimately released dozens of slaves from their labors at the River

%8 Fitzpatrick, Writings of Washington, 34: 433-34.
2 Stephen Decatur, Jr., Private Affairs of George Washington, From the Records and Accounts of Tobias
Lear, Esquire, His Secretary (Boston, 1933), 303.
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Farm. The land itself went to his nephews, George Fayette and Lawrence Augustine
Washington, to be divided equally between them when they reached their majority. In
the interim, their stepfather, Tobias Lear, would assume responsibility for the property.*

For nearly 40 years, George Washington had invested tremendous energy in the
River Farm, through drought and storms, and numerous overseers, good, bad, and
indifferent. He would have been sorely disappointed to see, however, how quickly his
accomplishments at Mount Vernon, his most prized life’s work, began to disintegrate
once he was gone. Thirty years after Washington’s death, a Fairfax County writer
offered this appraisal of the current condition of Mount Vernon: “any curious to mark
the operation of time upon human affairs,” he noted,

would find much for contemplation by riding through the extensive
domains of the late General Washington. A more widespread and perfect
agricultural ruin would not be imagined; yet the monuments of the great
mind that once ruled, are seen throughout. The ruins of capacious barns,
and long extended hedges, seem proudly to boast that their master looked
to the future.*

% Fitzpatrick, Writings of Washington, 37: 289-90.
81 Jackson, Diaries, I: xxxvii.
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CHAPTER 3:
SLAVE PLANTATION TO YANKEE FARM
1800 - 1900

Until rescued by the visionary efforts of Ann Pamela Cunningham and the Mount Vernon
Ladies” Association, George Washington’s estate had slipped inexorably into decay in the
years following his death. No longer a component of Mount Vernon, the River Farm was
now in the hands of Tobias Lear’s stepsons, George Fayette Washington and Lawrence
Augustine Washington. When they inherited the 2,077-acre property in 1799, both boys
were still minors, and Fairfax County land tax records for the early years of the
nineteenth century reveal that the land continued to be attributed to George Washington’s
estate. Lear held the neighboring 360-acre Wellington estate, which he entrusted to farm
manager Albin Rawlins when he went as President Jefferson’s consul to Santo Domingo
in 1801. It is unclear exactly how the River Farm operated before the Washington heirs
reached their majority, but it is likely that Lear leased the land to tenants on their behalf.
When Lear took his own life in 1816, the 360-acre Wellington estate was transferred to
his stepsons; and after the young Lawrence Washington died at a young age while
visiting Cadiz, Spain, the River Farm passed entirely to his brother George.*

In 1813, the 23-year-old George Fayette Washington married Anna Maria Frame
in Charles Town, Virginia (now West Virginia). Fairfax County tax and census records
suggest that Washington and his new bride lived on his River Farm property (probably on
the Wellington estate) between 1818 and 1825. Personal property tax rolls list
Washington for the first time in 1818, at which time he was assessed on 9 black slaves
over the age of 16, a slave between 12 and 16, and 10 horses. The 1820 Federal Census
indicates that Washington was then living in Fairfax County. His household included a
white female between 26 and 45, presumably Anna Maria, and 16 slaves, including 10
men and 6 women of various ages. It is unclear whether Washington used his slaves to
work the entire River Farm plantation, or whether he may have leased portions of the
land to tenants. In 1826, Washington left the River Farm, moving his family and slaves
to the “Waverly” estate in Frederick County, seven miles northeast of Winchester. For
the next 28 years, Washington presumably leased the farm to tenants, though the county
records are silent on this matter.

On June 22, 1852, George Fayette Washington sold 791.25 acres of the River
Farm, including the future site of Fort Hunt Park, to Henry Allen Taylor of Alexandria
for the sum of $8,444. Three years later, Taylor and his wife Ann transferred a 300-acre
parcel at Sheridan’s Point to Lewis Linton, a 50-year-old physician from Gloucester
County, New Jersey, for $5,000.% The Lintons were only one of hundreds of Yankee
families who relocated to Fairfax County in the years before the Civil War. By the
beginning of the nineteenth century, the county had reached its economic and social

! Eugene E. Prussing, The Estate of George Washington, Deceased (Boston, 1927): 211-12; Ray

Brighton, The Checkered Career of Tobias Lear (Portsmouth, 1985): 175, 179; Fairfax County Land
Tax Records, 1800-1823.

2 John W. Wayland, The Washingtons and Their Homes (Staunton, 1944): 257, 259, 323; Fairfax
County Land Tax Records, 1818-25; Federal Census, 1820, Fairfax County, Population Schedule.

®  Fairfax County Deed Book R-3: 252; V-3: 463
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nadir. Decades of careless farming had exhausted the land, and the subsequent
outmigration of county residents caused the population to drop by more than 30 percent
between 1800 to 1840. But the agricultural life of the area was given a much-needed
boost in the 1820s, albeit from an unlikely source. A native of Westmoreland County,
Virginia, and a naval hero of the War of 1812, Thomas ap Catesby Jones inherited a tract
of land near the Great Falls of the Potomac. Taking up the cause of “scientific” farming,
Jones experimented with a variety of fertilizers, including a batch of South American
guano. His efforts succeeded remarkably, and proved an example to many northern
farmers eager to take up new land. Fairfax County would prove the perfect location. Its
overworked and unproductive lands were cheap to buy, but had the advantage of
proximity to the growing urban markets of Alexandria, Georgetown, and Washington.*

By 1847, about 200 Northern families had moved to Fairfax and invested more
than $200,000 in land, which they set about improving with a vigor and ingenuity that
impressed their Virginian neighbors. In 1850, just before the Lintons arrived, roughly
one in three adult white males in Fairfax hailed from the northern states or European
countries. Most were farmers who took up moderately sized parcels, typically between
150 and 200 acres, but the new arrivals also included a few professional men, such as
Linton. These Yankee newcomers, including many Pennsylvania and New Jersey
Quakers, were inherently anti-slavery, though not aggressively so. By improving their
farms with free white labor, they hoped to show Southerners that black slavery was not
simply immoral, but also economically unsound.’

Fairfax land records indicate that there were no taxable buildings on the property
when Linton purchased it; however, he appears to have built a house soon after, since
buildings valued at the respectable sum of $500 were assessed on the tract by 1857.
Maps of the Mount Vernon area drafted during the 1860s indicate that Linton’s house
was situated in the southern portion of the current Fort Hunt Park (Figure 6). The Federal
Census of 1860 recorded that Linton’s household included his wife, Sarah, aged 51, a
daughter, Harriet, 26, and two sons, John, 22, and Frank, 11. A 23-year-old white man
named William Cook also lived with the Lintons; the newly relocated Yankees owned no
slaves, so Cook probably worked as a farm hand. According to the agricultural schedule
of the census, 175 acres of Linton’s Sheridan’s Point farm consisted of “improved” land
(i.e. cleared and under cultivation), while the remaining 125 acres were wooded. The
total value of his real estate, including land and buildings, was $6,000. Linton’s livestock
included four horses, four milch cows, seven cattle, and six hogs, with a combined value
of $400. Over the previous year, the farm had yielded 75 bushels of wheat, 500 bushels
of Indian corn, 75 bushels of oats, 100 bushels of Irish potatoes, 500 bushels of sweet
potatoes, 200 pounds of butter, and 5 tons of hay. Most of this produce would have
found its way to market in nearby Alexandria. In 1856 Virginia’s General Assembly had
authorized the construction of the Alexandria, Mount Vernon, and Accotink Turnpike.
While providing easier access to Mount Vernon for tourists, the new toll road also
allowed area farmers unprecedented access to urban consumers. The Lintons were

Nan Netherton, et al., Fairfax County, Virginia: A History (Fairfax, 1978): 251-59.
> Netherton et al., Fairfax County, 259-284; Dorothy Troth Muir, Potomac Interlude: The Story of
Woodlawn Mansion and the Mount Vernon Neighborhood (Mount Vernon, 1979): 40, 52.
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Figure 6. Detail, U.S. War Department, Engineer Bureau, Extract of Military Map
of Northeast Virginia Showing Forts and Roads, 1865 (source: Fairfax
County Regional Library, Fairfax, Virginia), approximate vicinity of Fort
Hunt indicated.
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perfectly situated to take advantage of the route, which ran past their farm a short
distance to the north.®

Not long after the Lintons had established their Fairfax County farm, their
neighborhood was engulfed by war. In January 1861, as sectional conflict seemed
inevitable, a company of U.S. Marines sailed on the steamer Philadelphia from the
Washington Navy Yard to Fort Washington, on the Maryland side of the Potomac within
view of the Linton farm. Here they garrisoned the old stone fort and began to make
much-needed repairs. Meanwhile, the majority of Alexandrians prepared to support the
secessionist cause. Alexandria’s importance as a port, and its proximity to Washington,
D.C., meant that it was only a matter of time before Union forces arrived to secure the
area. On May 24, 1861, Federal troops entered Alexandria on the heels of the fleeing
Confederate defenders, and the city would remain occupied by Union forces until the end
of the war.’

The war interrupted the daily lives of the Lintons in numerous ways. Having
voted against secession, Linton would not have been popular with his neighbors. In fact,
in the early days of the war, Unionist sympathizers in the area were frequently harassed
by pro-Confederate Virginians. The arrival of Federal troops ended this persecution,
though the military occupation brought its own inconveniences. The Linton farm lay
beyond the ring of Federal fortifications built to defend Alexandria and the capital from
Confederate assault, but numerous roadblocks and checkpoints along the major county
roads made it difficult to travel even short distances. Sarah Tracy, Ann Pamela
Cunningham’s secretary who lived at Mount Vernon during the war years, recalled that
progress was so slow on the seven-mile route between Alexandria and her home that on
one occasion she was forced to stop and spend the night along the way.?

No actual fighting occurred within miles of Mount Vernon, though the war was
never far away. Tracy remembered that throughout the day and evening of July 21, 1861,
the sound of guns from the First Battle of Bull Run literally shook the ground at Mount
Vernon. The Federal occupation quickly disrupted farm life in the area, as troops
regularly confiscated food and other necessary supplies from the surrounding Fairfax
County farms. But since they tended to target mainly secessionist households, the
Lintons were likely spared the most destructive effects of “hay-soldiering” (foraging for
horses) and “pie-rooting” (feeding hungry soldiers). They would have soon grown
accustomed to the sight of Federal troops, however, since Washington’s Mount Vernon
proved a popular tourist destination for off-duty officers and men garrisoned in the
Washington area.’

Despite the many inconveniences of the Federal occupation, the Linton farm
survived the war years relatively unscathed. County tax records indicate that the value of
buildings on the property remained constant after the war, and the land was still
productive. After the war, the aging Linton evidently let his sons run the farm. The 1870
Federal Census indicates that he was now retired, while his household had expanded to

®  Fairfax County Land Tax Records, 1855-57; Federal Census 1860, Fairfax County, Population and
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include: John Linton, 31, a farmer, and his English-born wife, Mary, 28; Frank Linton,
21, also a farmer; Caroline Smith, 16, who may have been a relative or servant; Robert
Linton, a 60-year-old retired merchant from Pennsylvania, perhaps Lewis Linton’s
brother; Jerome Linton, 28, a farmer, his wife Jane, 24, and their children, Caroline, 8,
and I—1|éenry, 2; and finally Spencer Watts, a white Virginian who boarded as a farm
hand.

The Agricultural Schedule for the 1870 census gives a better indication of how
the Linton farm was organized. The eldest son, John, presided over 200 acres, 175 of
which were improved. His farm included 5 horses, 3 milch cows, 7 cattle, and 21 hogs.
The previous year he had raised 80 bushels of winter wheat, 30 bushels of rye, 100
bushels of Indian corn, 30 bushels of Irish potatoes, $400 of market garden produce sold
in Alexandria, 150 pounds of butter, and 4 tons of hay. Jerome Linton oversaw work on
the remaining 100 acres, 75 of which were in cultivation. He owned three horses, two
milch cows, and eight hogs. Though his farm was considerably smaller, Jerome’s output
nearly equaled that of his brother, with 70 bushels of winter wheat, 10 bushels of rye, 100
bushels of Indian corn, 30 bushels of Irish potatoes, 5 bushels of sweet potatoes, 200
pounds of butter, and 200 tons of hay. In addition, Jerome sold $50 worth of forest
products, most likely firewood."*

In March 1871, Lewis Linton formally deeded the farm to his two younger sons.
Frank received the 100-acre tract known as the “Homestead Farm,” or “Park Farm,”
while Jerome acquired 100 acres at Sheridan’s Point. Together, these two parcels
encompassed what is now Fort Hunt Park.*> Frank took over buildings worth $1,000 on
his parcel and, by 1873, Jerome had added improvements to his Sheridan’s Point Farm
valued at $700, including a house and farm buildings.*®

On August 4, 1877, the unmarried Frank Linton sold the Park Farm to Nicholas
Eckhardt of Washington, D.C. For the first time in its history, the land encompassing
Fort Hunt Park was now owned by more than one family. Later that year, Jerome Linton
claimed a Homestead Exemption on his Sheridan’s Point Farm, which now included 92.5
acres, since he had sold a small portion to his neighbor, William Hunter, the year before.
An 1879 map of the Mount Vernon District of Fairfax County indicates the location of
Jerome Linton’s farmhouse near Sheridan’s Point, while the former Lewis Linton home
was now identified as “Eckhardt,” and “Piney Grove” (Figure 7).

By 1879, Jerome Linton had defaulted on his mortgage. The Sheridan’s Point
Farm was sold at public auction in Alexandria on August 26" to Thomas F. Boroughs, a
city merchant with a store at the corner of Franklin and Patrick streets. By this time, the
value of buildings on the property had increased to $1,000.** In April 1880, Boroughs
sold the Sheridan’s Point Farm to Annie M. Pelton of Washington, D.C. The Federal

10
11

Federal Census, 1870, Fairfax County, Population Schedule.

Federal Census, 1870, Fairfax County, Agricultural Schedule.

2 Fairfax County Deed Book N-4: 497; 4-O: 50. When Lewis Linton died in 1877, he ordered his
executors to sell the remaining 100 acres, known as the “West Farm,” and distribute the proceeds
between his daughters, Emma Smith, Harriet Fuller, Ellen Steward, and Deborah Devler.

Fairfax County Personal Property Tax Records, 1871-1873.

Y Fairfax County Deed Book V-4: 181; V-4: 251; V-4: 443; Y-4: 31; Fairfax County Personal Property
tax Records, 1880.
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Figure 7. Detail of Mount Vernon District, Fairfax County, Virginia, 1879 (source:
(Stephenson, Cartography of Northern Virginia, 1981, Plate 76),
approximate vicinity of Fort Hunt indicated.
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Census of that year indicated that the Pelton household consisted of Julius Pelton, a 46-
year-old farmer, his wife, Anna (Annie) M. Pelton, 43, and a 9-year-old black girl named
Sally Pollard. The Peltons were transplanted New Englanders; Julius was born in
Massachusetts, and Annie in Connecticut. Just as the Lintons had exemplified the influx
of Northerners into Fairfax County in the years before the Civil War, the Peltons were
representative of the second wave of Yankee newcomers who took up land in the
neighborhood in the postwar years. Meanwhile, in March 1882, Eckhardt and his wife
Sarah Jane of Washington, D.C., transferred their 100 acres, now known as “Piney
Grove,” to Louisa J. Grau of St. Michaels, Talbot County, on Maryland’s Eastern Shore.
The value of buildings on both farms had declined considerably in recent years, dropping
from 1%1,000 to $600 on the Grau tract, and from $1,000 to $500 on the Peltons’ new
farm.

An 1890 map drafted by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for a proposed
“National Road” from Washington, D.C., to Mount Vernon, offers a relatively detailed
picture of the landscape of the property that would soon become Fort Hunt (Figure 8).
Two buildings, evidently representing the former Jerome Linton farmstead now occupied
by the Peltons, are situated at the end of a farm road that ultimately connected the
property with the main road to Alexandria. These structures would have been situated in
the southwestern portion of the present Fort Hunt Park, near Sheridan Point. Curiously,
however, the Grau farmstead at “Piney Grove,” which should have been situated a short
distance to the north, does not appear on the map. It is possible that the main house was
no longer standing by that date; the Grau family does not appear in the 1900 Federal
Census for Fairfax County, suggesting they lived elsewhere by this date. However, land
tax records still indicate buildings worth $600 on their land at this time, so their absence
on the Corps of Engineers map may simply have been an oversight.*

Between 1874 and 1882, the steamboat Mary Washington operated between
Washington, Alexandria, and Mount Vernon, ferrying tourists and mail along the
Potomac River route. But, in subsequent years, planners once again looked to improve
the land route south into the county. After the success of the first trolley line in
Richmond, a syndicate was formed in 1892 to bring an electric railway to Alexandria.
The New Alexandria Land and River Improvement Company set about purchasing 1,600
acres of land between Alexandria and Mount Vernon for a right-of-way, and within four
months, the Washington, Alexandria, & Mt. Vernon Electric Railway had been
completed. This new form of transportation had a profound effect on the Mount Vernon
area. Significant residential development would not begin immediately: the Snowdens
subdivided portions of their property along the new rail line, but could sell only a few
lots. However, with 30 trains operating between Mount Vernon and Alexandria each
day, 1.74 million people were soon using the railway each year. Mount Vernon students
now had the opportunity to attend schools in Washington, D.C., and rapid access to urban
markets gave a tremendous boost to the area’s dairy industry.!” The Pelton and Grau
families no doubt grasped the potential economic benefits of the new rail line, which ran

> Fairfax County Deed Book Z-4: 34, B-5: 161; Federal Census 1880, Fairfax County Population
Schedule; Netherton, et al., Fairfax County, 410; Fairfax County Land Tax Records, 1885-90.

Federal Census, 1900, Fairfax County Population Schedule; Fairfax County Land Tax Records, 1890.
7 Netherton et al., Fairfax County, 477-81.
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Figure 8. Portions of Alexandria and Fairfax Counties, Virginia, Showing the Route
Surveyed for a National Road from Washington D. C. to Mount Vernon,
Virginia, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 1893, Fairfax County Regional
Library, Fairfax, Virginia (approximate vicinity of Fort Hunt indicated).
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only a short distance north of their farms. Though they could not have envisioned the
rapid suburbanization of their neighborhood over the next 50 years, they were about to
face a more tangible and immediate transformation of their quiet, rural way of life—not
in the form of commuting civil servants, but in concrete bunkers and 8-inch guns.
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CHAPTER 4:
“THEM CRAZY SOLDIERS”
1893 - 1917

In the mean time we have acquired great riches and apparently dreamed
that prosperity should inspire friendship and not envy in less favored
peoples—forgetting that riches are a temptation, and that the plunder of
one of our sea-ports might abundantly reimburse an enemy for the
expenses of a war conducted against us.
Report of the Board on Fortifications
or Other Defenses, 1886

By the mid-1880s, the United States was well on its way to becoming an international
power, with economic and “imperial” interests around the globe. The “New Navy” that
emerged during this period replaced the antiquated Civil War era fleet, launching the
United States into the age of “gunboat diplomacy.” At the same time, American military
planners recognized that the nation’s aging system of coastal defense had become
dangerously outdated. Congress responded to these concerns by passing an act on March
3, 1885, stipulating that President Grover Cleveland would appoint a board to “examine
and report at what forts fortifications or other defenses are most urgently required, the
character and kind of defenses best adapted for each, with reference to armament; the
utilization of torpedoes, mines, or other defensive appliances, and for the necessary and
proper expenses of said Board . . . .””?

In due course, Cleveland appointed the Board on Fortifications or Other Defenses,
otherwise known as the Endicott Board, after its President, Secretary of War William C.
Endicott. The Board consisted of two officers of the Engineer Corps, two officers of the
Ordnance Corps, two officers of the line of the Navy, and two civilians. The Board
divided the task of reporting to Congress among six committees, charged with compiling
a wide variety of information, from the penetration and effect of shot on armor, to the
size and armament of foreign naval vessels, and the character and extent of existing
defenses for the most important American ports.®

The Endicott Board formally presented their findings to Congress the following
year. Though the report included reams of technical data, its overarching message was
abundantly clear. The United States, the Board found, was simply not equipped to repel a
seaborne attack by a major naval power. “Without enlarging upon this subject,” they
declared, “it suffices to state that the coast fortifications, which in 1860 were not
surpassed by those of any country for efficiency, either for offense or defense, and were
entirely competent to resist vessels of war of that period, have, since the introduction of
rifled guns of heavy power and of armor plating in the navies of the world, become

! Robert Greenhalgh Albion, Makers of Naval Policy, 1798-1947 (Annapolis, 1980): 349-50; William C.
Endicott et al., Report of the Board on Fortifications or Other Defenses Appointed by the President of
the United States Under the Provisions of the Act of Congress Approved March 3, 1885 (Washington,
1886): 6.

Board on Fortifications, Report, 3.
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unable to cope with modern iron or steel-clad ships of war; far less to prevent their
passage into the ports destined for attack.™

The Board made numerous recommendations for beefing up America’s coastal
defenses. To begin with, the report ranked the 11 ports where “fortifications or other
defenses are most urgently required.” These included, in descending order of
importance: New York, San Francisco, Boston, The Great Lakes ports, Hampton Roads,
New Orleans, Philadelphia, Washington, Baltimore, Portland (Maine), and the Rhode
Island ports in Narragansett Bay. With respect to Washington, D.C., the Board noted that
the channel of the Potomac River narrowed considerably above Mount Vernon, above
which point the capital could easily be shelled. Protection for the upper Potomac was
particularly important since the existing defenses at Fort Wool and Fort Monroe in
Hampton Roads could not bar foreign vessels from the Chesapeake Bay, and Fort
Washington, at the confluence of Piscataway Creek and the Potomac, alone could not
effectively repel a naval assault on Washington. The Board recommended that the
Potomac River defenses be updated to include a total of 13 “disappearing” guns,
including seven 12-inch, and six 10-inch breech-loading rifled pieces, at a cost of
$683,000. With an additional $520,000 for masonry and earthwork fortifications, and
$120,500 for submarine mines and other equipment, the total cost of constructing
adequate defenses for Washington was projected to be $1,323,500, or 3.5 percent of the
estimated $37,965,000 necessary for improving the entire nation’s seacoast
fortifications.”

In March 1890, the Army’s Engineer Board recommended the construction of a
coastal artillery battery at Sheridan’s Point, to operate in coordination with Fort
Washington to defend the capital from naval assault. At this time, the Board urged the
purchase of the farms then owned by the Peltons, Graus, and Linton heirs, for a total of
nearly 300 acres. On August 18" of that year, the 51 Congress passed an “act making
appropriations for fortifications and other works of defense, for the armament thereof, for
the procurement of heavy ordnance for trial and service, and for other purposes.” The act
allocated $500,000 “for the procurement of land, or right pertaining thereto, needed for
the site, location, construction, or prosecution of works, for fortifications and coast
defenses,” and empowered the Secretary of War to initiate legal condemnation
proceedings, if necessary, to acquire privately held land for these purposes.®

Annie and Julius Pelton had been living at Sheridan’s Point for 10 years when the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers first approached them about purchasing the land in 1890.
The Peltons initially were receptive to the idea of selling, but they could not reach an
agreement with the Corps of Engineers concerning the price. The government
subsequently launched condemnation proceedings to obtain the land “for the site, location
and construction of batteries and works for fortifications and coast defenses.” On
September 15, 1892, the U.S. Circuit Court for the Eastern District at Alexandria upheld
the condemnation of the tract. Ironically, the court established the appropriate
compensation at $13,576.87, more than the Peltons had wanted to begin with. On June

4 Board on Fortifications, Report, 5.

> Board on Fortifications, Report, 16, 22, 24, 28, 182.

®  Records of the Office of the Chief of Engineers, General Correspondence, Document File 16228/1;
The Statutes at Large of the United States of America, from December, 1889, to March, 1891, and
Recent Treaties, Conventions, and Executive Proclamations, vol. XXVI (Washington, 1891): 315-20,
NA RG 77.
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27, 1893, the Clerk of the Fairfax County Court duly registered the deed to the federal
government, and the property became public land.’

The task of building the new defensive works at Sheridan’s Point was given to
Major Charles J. Allen, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and preparatory work began in
earnest in the later months of 1896. Working with a total budget of $100,000, Allen
initially estimated the cost of construction, including gun emplacements, platforms,
ammunition hoists, conveyors, cranes, storage batteries for electrical lighting, and a
wharf to receive supplies at $77,110. The largest single expense would be the 7,150
cubic yards of concrete for the emplacements, which alone accounted for $35,750. The
funds remaining in the budget after construction, Allen suggested, should be allocated to
“wear and tear of plant, profits, contingencies of engineering, inspection, etc.” The Corps
of Engineers advertised the project for bid in November 1896, and awarded the contract
to the Baltimore firm of Douglas and Andrews on December 16™. Allen was pleased to
report that the low bid had been so low, in fact, that now he could afford to build three
emplacements rather than the two he had planned.?

Douglas and Andrews were authorized to begin work at Sheridan’s Point as of
December 27, 1896, with an anticipated completion date of September 1, 1897. While
the project was ongoing, the construction inspectors and sub-inspectors, some with their
families, lived on-site in the former Pelton/Linton farmhouse. It appears that no other
sizable buildings were situated on the property at this time, since Allen complained that
he had no place to store the three disappearing 8-inch gun carriages that were scheduled
to arrive by water. As the September 1% deadline loomed, it became clear that the
construction work would not be completed according to schedule, and Allen granted the
first of six extensions to the contractor. The pace of work became “exceedingly slow” in
the early months of 1898, as the freezing temperatures hindered the progress of the
concrete work. Some portions, in fact, had to be re-poured. By March, however, the
pace of construction accelerated in response to events overseas. War with Spain now
appeared imminent, and the Army was anxious to have the Sheridan’s Point battery
operational as soon as possible. Though the emplacements were not entirely finished,
Allen authorized the Alexandria firm of Littlefield, Alvord & Co. to mount the three 8-
guns. The armaments were ready for service by April 1%, fully 20 days before war was
declared, as Allen proudly pointed out (Figure 9).°

As the Sheridan’s Point battery (later known as Battery Mount Vernon) was being
armed to defend against a potential Spanish armada, Battery K of the 4™ U.S. Atrtillery
occupied the post and took control of the guns, rubbing shoulders with the contractors
who were frantically trying to finish the emplacements. Soon the artillerymen were
joined by several companies of a Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry regiment, who went
into temporary camp at the post. Construction of the battery would outlast the brief war
with Spain, however. Douglas and Andrews finally completed their work on August 15,
1898, nearly a year past the original deadline. Measuring approximately 420 feet long by
90 feet wide, the concrete battery was now an imposing figure on the landscape along the

Fairfax County Deed Book O-5: 587; P-5: 323.
Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 16228/1, 13, 15, RG 77.
°®  Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 16228/34, 36, 37, 42, 62, NA RG 77.
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Figure 9. Plan of Battery Mount Vernon, 1902 (record of armament at Fort Hunt
cartographic records, NA RG 77, Drawer 252, Sheet 7-14).
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western edge of the Pelton tract. And its 8-inch rifled guns, mounted in three
emplacements 135 feet apart, promised a hot reception to potential invaders.°

Though the guns were now manned, it would still be several months before the
fortifications were fully operational, as Allen completed the necessary inspections and
testing of the equipment, and worked out minor problems with the physical plant, such as
doors that already were warping. Allen also received permission to move the old
Pelton/Linton farmhouse to another location on the reservation, since it was in the
battery’s line of fire. But, on the whole, the Major was satisfied with the final result.
“Considering that the structure was put up by contract, at low prices,” he remarked to the
Chief of Engineers, “the general quality of the work was very good.” He also was
pleased to report that $6,600 remained in the construction budget, which he
recommended be spent on an electric-light plant for the post. By order of President
McKinley, on April 13, 1899, the Sheridan’s Point post was officially named “Fort
Hunt”, in honor of the late Brevet Major General Henry Jackson Hunt (1819-1889), an
artillery officer who had seen distinguished service in the Mexican and Civil wars, and
later had been governor of the Soldiers’ Home in Washington. Finally, on December 21,
1899, three years after ground was broken at Sheridan’s Point, Allen recommended that
the Corps of Engineers officially turn the reservation over to the troops.*

In September 1898, soon after the work on the main 8-inch gun battery had been
completed, Allen submitted plans for two smaller batteries (later known as Batteries
Porter and Robinson). Armed with a 5-inch rapid-firing gun on balance pillar mounts,
both emplacements were designed to draw enemy ships into range of the main battery’s
guns. After considerable debate concerning the proper positioning of the new batteries,
Allen was ordered to begin construction in October 1898 with a total budget of $14,484.
One battery (Robinson) would be situated approximately 135 yards from the river, while
the other (Porter) would be located 420 yards from the left flank of the 8-inch gun
battery. Construction began almost immediately and proceeded through September 1899.
Though by now the emplacements were ready to receive the ordnance, the guns
themselves were not available. In fact, Allen would have to wait another year before he
could resume work on the project. In December 1899, he informed the Chief of
Engineers that the cost of materials had increased in the interim, and that he would
require an additional $1,900 to complete the work. The gun mounts arrived at Fort Hunt
on January 1, 1901, though the guns themselves would not arrive until June 1902. After
months of delay, the 60-foot-square concrete batteries were turned over to the artillery in
August 1902, nearly two years overdue (Figure 10).*2

While the work on the two 5-inch batteries was ongoing, Allen initiated yet
another project at Fort Hunt: the construction of a battery commander’s station, an
observation tower equipped with range-finding and sighting equipment for directing the
fire of the guns. In July 1899, Allen submitted the plans for the construction and location
of the structure, and a proposed cost of $4,259. Situated along the western edge of the
Pelton tract, approximately 263 feet northwest of the left flank of the 8-inch battery, the

19 Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 16228/48, 57, 62, NA RG 77.

1 Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 16228/48, 57, 62; CIS Index to Presidential Orders &
Proclamations (Washington, 1987), General Orders, 1899 No. 71; Stewart Sifakis, Who Was Who in
the Civil War (New York, 1988): 326-27, NA RG 77.

12 Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 27716/1, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 16, NA RG 77.

40



Figure 10. Plan of Batteries Porter and Robinson, 1902, (record of armament at Fort
Hunt cartographic records, NA RG 77, Drawer 252, Sheet 7-16).
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concrete tower measured approximately 30 feet tall and 15 feet square. A steel platform
was situated 20 feet above ground: above the platform level the concrete walls were 2
feet thick; below they were 2.5 feet. Construction of the battery commander’s station
proceeded without delay, and the tower was turned over to the garrison in August 1901.
Allen was pleased to report that the project had come in under budget by $1,069.73.%3

The last major construction project Allen undertook at Fort Hunt was a battery of
three 15-pounder rapid-firing guns (later known as Batter Sater). He began work in June
1900 with a budget of $15,100; but, as with the two 5-inch gun emplacements, he soon
ran into unanticipated delays. Though the three emplacements were ready to receive their
guns by the summer of 1901, the ordnance did not arrive from the Driggs-Seabury Gun
and Ammunition Company of Derby, Connecticut, until November 1903. Though Allen
was forced to request an additional $1,823.70 to complete the job, he was able to finish
the construction work and mount the guns without further delay. The completed battery
was turned over to the troops in January 1904.  The new position was situated
approximately 300 yards east of the original 5-inch battery (Mount Vernon), and was of
simillfr concrete construction, measuring 110 feet long and 60 feet wide (Figures 11 and
12).

Though Fort Hunt was now fully armed, its four batteries were still known by
temporary letter designations. In early 1900, the Chief of Engineers had solicited
suggestions for naming the new coast artillery installations then under construction
around the country. Since McKinley had already named Fort Hunt, Allen suggested
calling the original 8-inch gun position “Battery Scott,” after General Winfield Scott, a
native Virginian whose distinguished Army career had spanned 50 years, from the War of
1812 through the beginning of the Civil War. For the smaller rapid-firing gun batteries
that were still under construction, Allen proposed the names “Vernon” and “Fairfax.”
When President Theodore Roosevelt finally ordered the official naming of Fort Hunt’s
batteries on May 25, 1903, however, Allen’s suggestions were largely ignored. The first
and largest position of 8-inch guns was named “Battery Mount Vernon,” in recognition of
Washington’s neighboring estate. The two 5-inch rapid-firing emplacements were
designated “Battery Robinson,” for First Lieutenant Levi H. Robinson, killed in action
with Indians near Laramie Peak, Wyoming, on February 9, 1874, and “Battery Porter,”
honoring First Lieutenant James E. Porter, who died fighting the Sioux Indians at Little
Big Horn River, Montana, June 25, 1876. The last emplacement of 15-pounder guns,
Lieutenant William A. Sater, killed on July, 1, 1898, at the Battle of San Juan, Cuba.”

When the first contingent of artillery and infantry arrived at Sheridan’s Point in
the spring of 1898 the only permanent structure on the post was the former Pelton/Linton
house, and it was occupied by the construction inspectors. For several months the troops
lived under canvas until permanent frame structures could be built. By early 1900,
however, the majority of Fort Hunt’s public buildings had been completed, including
housing for officers, non-commissioned officers, and enlisted men, both married and
single. Officers and NCOs were accommodated in more spacious semi-detached

B3 Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 32043/1-3, 12, 14, NARA RG 77.

" Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 35223/1, 5-7, 9, 15, 19, NA RG 77.

5 Chief of Eng., Gen. Corr., Doc. File 23284/27; CIS Index to Presidential Orders, General Orders 1903
No. 78, NARG 77.
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Figure 11. Plan of Battery Sater, 1902 (record of armament at Fort Hunt cartographic
records, NA RG 77, Drawer 252, Sheet 7-19).
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Figure 12. Battery Sater, 1923. This emplacement’s three 15-pounder rapid firing
guns were removed in 1917. All four batteries remained overgrown and
neglected until 1942, when the National Archives renovated them to store
flammable nitrate film (National Archives 111-SC-92122).
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Figure 13. An aerial view of Fort Hunt, 1923. Taken by fliers from nearby Bolling
Field, this image shows the four abandoned gun emplacements (center),
the wharf house (top center), Battery Commander’s Station (lower left)
and part of the post hospital (top left) (National Archives, AGO doc. File
680,41 RG 407).
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residences, while the majority of the enlisted men bunked in communal barracks. At
least 23 support structures also were built at Fort Hunt between 1900 and 1918, including
a mess hall, hospital, barns, storehouse and equipment buildings, power plants, stables, a
wharfhouse, and latrines (Table 1; Figures 14-22).

Table 1. Post Buildings at Fort Hunt, 1898-1929.%

Building Purpose Construction Remarks

Number Date

1 Double-set officers’ quarters 1900

2 Double-set officers’ quarters 1900

3 Administration Bldg., Post HQ 1900

4 Barracks (14 rooms, 91 men) 1900

5 Fire Station/Non-comm. staff quarters 1900

6 Quartermaster and Commissary storehouse and office 1900

7 Mess Hall 1900

8 Recreation, Gymnasium, School Room, Bowling Alley 1900 bowling alley added 1903

9 Bakery (later radio station) 1900

10 Hospital 1900

11 Guard House 1900

12 Non-comm. Staff quarters, double-set 1905

13 Ordnance Storehouse 1905

14 Old Quartermaster and Commissary storehouse and 1898 demolished 1914
shed

15 Wagon Shed 1907

16 Old Stable, Plumber’s Shop, Tool House 1898

17 Temporary Hospital, Enlisted Men’s quarters 1898 sold and removed 1923

18 Coal shed 1907

19 N.C.O. quarters (old pump house) 1900 enlarged 1903

20 Oil house 1900

21 Stable 1900

22 Non-comm. staff quarters, double-set 1900

23 Non-comm. staff quarters, double-set 1900

24 Coal shed 1900

25 Pumping and power plant 1910

26 Post lavatory ca. 1900

27 Power plant coal house 1903

28 Wagon shed/stable 1903

29 Frame building, enlisted men’s quarters (old Pelton ca. 1880 demolished 1916
house)

30 Barn, flagstaff barn unknown, | barn demolished 1910

flagstaff 1905

31 Married enlisted mens’ quarters 1898-99 sold and removed 1923

32 Carpenter’s shop, teamster’s quarters, saddle shop 1898

33 Reservoir (concrete) 1909

34 Water tank (30,000 gals.) 1909

35 Wharf house/boat shelter 1922

36 Temporary officers’ quarters 1918 changed to NCO quarters 1923

37 Temporary officers’ quarters 1918 changed to NCO quarters 1923

38 Temporary Mess Hall (120 men) 1918

39 Temporary Lavatory (120 men) 1918

40 Temporary Barracks (60 men) 1918

41 Temporary Barracks (60 men) 1918

16 Office of the Quartermaster General, Historical Record of Buildings, Fort Hunt, NA RG 92 (Entry
1067).

46



Ordnonce Slore House

Py L=

~ 0
= - Boker
- l! i&

(o]

Meteorological Stotion Guord House

Temporary Kitchen
05

oy
o O0om

_e
= D00
0

Temporory Lotrines

Engineer's Office

Baotlery Mt. Vernon

o o
Chicken House Bollery Porter

Quorters
A Tale

(o)
o
]
d

i 7
J

Engineer’s. Store House Il
I

!

[& Cool Shed
B Non, Com. Officers Quarters
= C} 'i Oid Hospital
o 32 18
3
Team;lers._/z 28 i Coal Shed
: 17

Quartermaster ond Commissory Store House

School Bidg. And Gym
Corpenler Shop ond Teomsters Quorlers

Stable
j: ; Wogon Shed

—

e

4

Bollery Robinson
Temporary Lolrines

Temporory Kilchens

Scale: 1 In.= Approx. 300 Ft.

Base File Provided By:
G.W.M.P. GIS

KEY:

Modern Boundary
Fort Hunt

1906 Structures
1906 Roads

1906 Boundary Of
Fort Hunt

1906 Trees and
Orchard

Modern Features

Coast Artillery
Batteries

Figure 14. Fort Hunt Features ca. 1906 projected onto modern base map (source: Records of the Judge Advocate General's Office, NA RG 153).

47




Figure 15. The post hospital, 1923, later code-named “The Creamery”. (National
Archives , 111-SC-92125).
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Figure 16. Enlisted men’s barracks, 1923. Fort Hunt’s Finance School occupied this
building in the early 1920s (National Archives, 111-SC92124).
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Figure 17. Two double-set NCQO’s quarters, and the single NCO quarters, 1923 (third
from left) which still stands (National Archives, 111-SC-92119).
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Figure 18. Two double-set officers’ quarters and Administration Building, 1923.
These buildings were home to the post commander and his subordinate
officers (National Archives, 111-SC-92129).
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